

Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board

Multi-Agency Protocol for Dealing with Cases of Domestic Abuse to Safeguard Adults with Care and Support Needs

Revised July 2019

Date approved by PPPWG: July 2019

Date approved by KMSAB: November 2019

Date of next review: November 2020

Table of Contents

1.	INTRODUCTION	3
2.	PURPOSE	5
3.	OBJECTIVES	5
4.	EFFECTS OF DOMESTIC ABUSE ON ADULTS WITH CARE AND SUPPORT NEEDS	6
5.	POLICE RESPONSIBILITIES	7
6.	CONSENT AND DATA PROTECTION	9
7.	LOCAL AUTHORITIES	11
8.	INTER-AGENCY CO-OPERATION	13
9.	DOMESTIC ABUSE AND SEXUAL VIOLENCE EXECUTIVE GROUP (DASVEG)	13
10.	DASH Risk Assessment	14
11.	Stalking and harassment in domestic abuse incidents	15
12.	Domestic Abuse Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC)	16
13.	Training	17
Apr	pendix 1 - Contact and referral details	18

1. INTRODUCTION

- 1.1 This document provides guidelines to assist Police, the local authorities and where appropriate health services to work together to address the issues of Domestic Abuse where they affect adults with care and support needs. These referrals will normally be addressed through the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Adults Policy Protocols and Guidance for Kent and Medway.
- 1.2 Under the Care Act 2014 safeguarding concerns should be referred to Kent County Council or Medway Council social care departments as they have responsibility for agreeing that the s42 Duty to carry out enquiries are necessary. If s42 enquiries are required, the local authority can carry out the enquiries or require another more appropriate agency /service to carry out the enquiries on their behalf. E.g. if a crime has or appears to have been committed the police will carry out a criminal investigation, other agencies/ services may contribute to the process to ensure that the s42 duties are met.
- The principle of safe enquiry is core to all work with victims of domestic violence. The Local Authority will need to consider the expressed views of the victim if it is qualified that they are making a capacitated decision and are not under duress. This may result in consent to share information with other agencies being withheld; in these circumstances there should be a consultation regarding the scenario only with the Police to inform the Designated Senior Officers (DSO) risk threshold assessment if it is believed a crime has been committed at the point the concern is reported.
- 1.4 The Adult at risk: Safeguarding duties apply to an adult who: has needs for care and support (whether or not the local authority is meeting any of those needs) and; is experiencing, or at risk of, abuse or neglect; and as a result of those care and support needs is unable to protect themselves from either the risk of, or the experience of abuse or neglect.
 - (Care and Support Statutory Guidance issued under the Care Act 2014 DH)

1.5 Who may be considered for statutory and non-statutory enquiries?

This may include people with learning disabilities, mental health issues, older people, and people with a physical disability or impairment. It may also include adult victims of abusive care practices; neglect and self-neglect; domestic abuse; hate crime; female genital mutilation; forced marriage; modern slavery; trafficking and anti-social abuse behaviour. It may also include an individual who may be vulnerable as a consequence of their role as a carer in relation to any of the above. An adult's need for additional support to protect themselves may be increased when complicated by additional factors, such as, physical frailty or chronic illness, sensory impairment, challenging behaviour, drug or alcohol problems, social or emotional problems, poverty or homelessness and it is important to note that vulnerability can fluctuate.

1.6 Domestic violence and abuse: new definition

The cross-government definition of domestic violence and abuse is:

any incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, coercive, threatening behaviour, violence or abuse between those aged 16 or over who are, or have been, intimate partners or family members regardless of gender or sexuality. The abuse can encompass, but is not limited to:

- psychological
- physical
- sexual
- financial
- emotional

Controlling behaviour

Controlling behaviour is a range of acts designed to make a person subordinate and/or dependent by isolating them from sources of support, exploiting their resources and capacities for personal gain, depriving them of the means needed for independence, resistance and escape and regulating their everyday behaviour.

Coercive behaviour

Coercive behaviour is an act or a pattern of acts of assault, threats, humiliation and intimidation or other abuse that is used to harm, punish, or frighten their victim.

It is also important to remember that most research also suggests that domestic abuse occurs in all sections of society irrespective of race, culture, nationality, religion, sexuality, disability, age, class or educational level.

The definition includes incidents where extended family members may condone or share in the pattern of abuse e.g. forced marriage, female genital mutilation and crimes rationalized as punishing women for bringing 'dishonour' to the family.

Section 76 of the Serious Crime Act (2015) created a new offence of controlling or coercive behaviour in an intimate or family relationship. This legislation, which does not have retrospective effect, came in to force on 29th December 2015. Coercive or controlling behaviour does not relate to a single incident, it is a purposeful pattern of incidents that occur over time in order for one individual to exert power, control or coercion over another. The legislation aims to close a gap in the law around patterns of coercive and controlling behaviour during a relationship between intimate partners, former partners who still live together, or family members.

2. PURPOSE

- 2.1 This protocol aims to identify effective joint working practices for all agencies when Domestic Abuse affects an adult at risk.
- 2.2 The purpose of this protocol is to set out a minimum standard of service when an adult at risk requires some support to protect them from Domestic Abuse and to identify appropriate support networks.

3. OBJECTIVES

3.1 The objectives of this protocol are:

- a) To provide guidance to all agencies in referring cases of concern to appropriate service (see section 1.2). These will normally be addressed through the Kent and Medway Multi-Agency Adult Protection Policy, Protocols and Guidance for Kent and Medway.
- **b)** To provide guidance that enables agencies to apply a consistent approach to sharing information.
- c) To set out a minimum standard of service for responding to adults at risk who may be in need of protection and other Support Services because of Domestic Abuse.
- **d)** To include the principles of Wellbeing as described in the <u>Care and support</u> <u>statutory guidance</u> (2014).
- e) To support the Statutory guidance framework; controlling or coercive behaviour in an intimate or family relationship (2015). Coercive behaviour is an act or a pattern of acts of assault, threats, humiliation and intimidation or other abuse that is used to harm, punish, or frighten their victim. Controlling behaviour is a range of acts designed to make a person subordinate and/or dependent by isolating them from sources of support, exploiting their resources and capacities for personal gain, depriving them of the means needed for independence, resistance and escape and regulating their everyday behaviour.

3.2 This protocol recognises that:

- a) All agencies will always seek to act in the best interest of adults at risk with whom they are involved.
- **b)** All agencies are bound by a duty to protect the confidentiality of shared material. The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and Data Protection

Act 2018 (DPA 2018) provide a legal framework for lawful information sharing. Any decision made to share confidential information must have a lawful basis, be necessary and justified and proportionate with regard to the Human Rights Act (1998) (JAPAN principles Justified, Authorised, Proportionate, Auditable and Necessary). The Police will use the following acronym: PLAN – Proportionate, Legal, Accountable and Necessary.

- **c)** All agencies will use shared material only for the purposes for which it is disclosed and not for secondary reasons.
- d) It is important that adults at risk understand the agreement they are entering into and that you revisit the agreement. You need to explain the reasons why their information might be shared and how the service will treat the sensitive and personal data it is given. Explain that every case is individual but, in general, the service does not need consent to share information where the adult or their children are at high risk of serious harm.

4. EFFECTS OF DOMESTIC ABUSE ON ADULTS WITH CARE AND SUPPORT NEEDS

- 4.1 It is important to recognise that adults with care and support needs may be the victims of Domestic Abuse themselves or be affected by it occurring within their household. This is likely to have a serious effect on their physical and mental wellbeing.
- **4.2** Research has mainly been carried out with women, and findings include that being disabled strongly affects the nature, extent and impact of abuse. That it is especially acute where the abusive partner is also the carer, the carer has considerable power and control and the victim relies on them.
- 4.3 Where adults at risk are victims of Domestic Abuse; they may need extra support to plan their future. The abuse or threat of abuse may continue after a victim has separated from the abuser. It is important to ensure that all adults at risk in this situation have appropriate support to enable them to maintain their personal safety.
- 4.4 Although it is recognised that carers are sometimes under pressure this should not be used as mitigation for violence or abuse where there is power and control identified over the adult. Where domestic abuse is identified consideration should always be given as to whether the perpetrator has a history of domestic violence or abuse prior to the onset of the disability or capacity issues that defined them as an adult with care and support needs. Consideration should also be given to whether the disability or capacity issue is contributing to the Domestic violence or abuse episodes. This should assist workers to address the needs of the adult at risk within a domestic abuse or violence situation.

4.5 Consultation and advice can be sought from the Police Vulnerable Investigation Teams (VIT) and / or the Central Referral Unit.

5. POLICE RESPONSIBILITIES

- **5.1** Kent Police will work with multi agency partners to ensure the overriding priorities in dealing with all incidents of domestic abuse are:
 - a) To protect the lives of adults and children who are at risk of domestic abuse;
 - **b)** To ensure safeguarding and signposting to national and local support resources for victims of domestic abuse;
 - c) To record all incidents of domestic abuse;
 - **d)** To facilitate effective action against offenders so they can be held accountable through the criminal justice system.
 - e) Domestic abuse is not a specific criminal offence. The term is used to describe a range of incidents occurring in particular circumstances where the victims can be of any gender and from any ethnic group as can the perpetrator. Kent Police will respond to all victims of domestic abuse so they can receive the appropriate quality of service according to their individual needs. All allegations will be properly investigated and the perpetrators held accountable through the criminal justice system.
- 5.2 Following a report of a Domestic Abuse incident it is the responsibility of the Patrol Supervisor or Detective Sergeant, Central Referral Unit (CRU), to identify if the victim appears to have care and support needs and be at risk of Domestic Abuse. Those adults deemed at risk will be immediately referred via CRU. Officers should contact the dedicated CRU Domestic Abuse Pod internally on ex. 832.

A referral of concern will be made to the Local authorities (See 1.2) in all cases where:

- It is believed that an adult at risk and/or associated children are suffering or are at risk of suffering significant harm
- It is believed that an adult at risk and/or children are in need of more support services

If there is any uncertainty regarding the need for a referral, a consultation can be sought through the relevant Local Authority Social Services/Mental Health Office/Vulnerable Investigation Team (VIT) / CRU.

<u>Orders (DVPO).</u> These may be used following a domestic incident to provide short-term protection to the victim when arrest has not been made but positive action is required, or where an arrest has taken place but the investigation is in

progress. This could be where a decision is made to caution the perpetrator or take no further action (NFA), or when the suspect is bailed without conditions. They may also be considered when a case is referred by MARAC.

The process is designed to give breathing space to victims by granting a temporary respite from their abuser and allowing referral to support services without interference. The point at which victims seek help or leave their abuser can be when they are most at risk. The DVPN/DVPO process can be pursued without the victim's active support, or even against their wishes, if this is considered necessary to protect them from violence or threat of violence. The victim also does not have to attend court. This can help by removing responsibility from the victim for taking action against their abuser.

Initially Police may serve a DVPN then an application to court for a DVPO must be made within 48 hours. If the court issue a DVPO it must last for a minimum of 14 days and a maximum of 28 days.

Breaches of a DVPN should be reported to Police. There is no specific power of arrest however other powers can be used to detain the suspect to appear before the next available magistrate court so that a full order can be granted. Consideration will be given to the commission of further offences which may result in the suspect being arrested and investigated for these further offences as well.

Breaches of a DVPO have a power of arrest attached. Therefore any breaches should be reported to police who have the power to arrest and place the suspect before a magistrates court. A breach of a DVPO is a civil breach of a court order. The penalty for a breach of a civil order is £50 for every day that the person is in default of the order, up to a maximum of £5000 or 2 months' imprisonment. Consideration will be given to the commission of further offences which may result in the suspect being arrested and investigated for these further offences as well.

5.4 <u>Domestic Violence Disclosure Scheme (DVDS)</u> (Clare's Law). The aim of this scheme is to give members of the public a formal mechanism to make enquires about an individual who they are in a relationship with, or who is in a relationship with someone they know, and there is a concern that the individual may have a record of abuse. If police checks show that the individual has a record of abusive offending, or there is other information to indicate the person you know is at risk, the police will consider sharing this information with the person(s) best placed to protect the potential victim. Any concerned third party, such as a parent, neighbour, friend or professional can make an application, not just the potential victim. A third party making an application would not necessarily receive the information about the individual concerned. It may be more appropriate for someone else to receive the information such as the potential victim or another person who is best placed to protect the potential victim. If an adult at risk is open to Social Services then the normal Police Checks process should be used.

6. CONSENT AND DATA PROTECTION

- The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA 2018) protects personal privacy and upholds individual's rights.
 - Article 5 of the GDPR sets out seven key principles which lie at the heart of any general data protection regime: -
 - a) processed lawfully, fairly and in a transparent manner in relation to individuals ('lawfulness, fairness and transparency');
 - b) collected for specified, explicit and legitimate purposes and not further processed in a manner that is incompatible with those purposes; further processing for archiving purposes in the public interest, scientific or historical research purposes or statistical purposes shall not be considered to be incompatible with the initial purposes ('purpose limitation');
 - c) adequate, relevant and limited to what is necessary in relation to the purposes for which they are processed ('data minimisation');
 - accurate and, where necessary, kept up to date; every reasonable step must be taken to ensure that personal data that are inaccurate, having regard to the purposes for which they are processed, are erased or rectified without delay ('accuracy');
 - e) kept in a form which permits identification of data subjects for no longer than is necessary for the purposes for which the personal data are processed; personal data may be stored for longer periods insofar as the personal data will be processed solely for archiving purposes in the public interest, scientific or historical research purposes or statistical purposes subject to implementation of the appropriate technical and organisational measures required by the GDPR in order to safeguard the rights and freedoms of individuals ('storage limitation');
 - f) processed in a manner that ensures appropriate security of the personal data, including protection against unauthorised or unlawful processing and against accidental loss, destruction or damage, using appropriate technical or organisational measures ('integrity and confidentiality'). The Data Protection Act 1998 protects personal privacy and upholds individual's rights.
- **6.2** GDPR includes six lawful bases for information sharing. The lawful bases for processing are set out in Article 6 of the GDPR. Those relevant to this policy are:
 - a) Consent: the individual has given clear consent for you to process their personal data for a specific purpose.

- **b)** Legal obligation: the processing is necessary for you to comply with the law.
- c) Vital interests: the processing is necessary to protect someone's life.
- **d)** Public task: the processing is necessary for you to perform a task in the public interest or for your official functions, and the task or function has a clear basis in law.

Consent should be sought in all cases where it is safe to do so. Where consent cannot be obtained sharing of information can take place without consent, under DPA 2018, where the individual is a child or an adult at risk; if the circumstances justify it, where it is in the substantial public interest, and sharing is necessary for the purpose of:

- i) protecting an individual from neglect or physical, mental or emotional harm; or
- ii) protecting the physical, mental or emotional well-being of an individual
- 6.3 Article 8 of the Human Rights Act 1998, states that everyone has the right to respect for his private and family life, and that there shall be no interference by a Public Authority with this right except as in accordance with the law:
 - a) In the interests of national security
 - **b)** Public safety
 - c) Economic wellbeing of the country
 - d) The prevention of disorder or crime
 - e) The protection of health or morals
 - f) The protection of the rights or freedoms of others.
- 6.4 In most circumstances the agreement of the adult should be sought before a referral is made. However consent should not be sought where:
 - **a)** It would hinder the prevention or detection of a crime or the apprehension of an offender.
 - **b)** It would place the subject of the referral or other adults at risk of harm.
 - c) An urgent referral is necessary and it is not possible or appropriate to seek consent, i.e. cases where the alleged abusers are the only persons able to give consent.
- **6.5** Statutory agencies have a responsibility to act to prevent a crime or abuse of children and adults at risk.

If a professional has concerns about the adult's welfare and believes they are suffering or likely to suffer abuse or neglect, then they should share the information with the local authority and, or, the police if they believe or suspect that a crime has been committed. (14.34 Care and Support Statutory Guidance issued under the Care Act 2014 DoH)

If the adult at risk withholds his/her agreement to a referral being made and they have capacity (as per the requirements of the <u>Mental Capacity Act 2005</u>) to understand the risk issues following completion of a risk assessment conducted during safe enquiry and it is qualified that they are not being intimidated, then their wishes should be respected and this decision recorded.

If however, other adults with care and support needs or Children are at risk then referral to social services should be made in respect of these people.

Lessons learned from domestic homicide reviews reveal that failing to share vital information is a contributory factor in many cases but while the current 'message' is very much that professionals should consider the potential risks of not sharing information; both strategically and at the front-line there is still much caution attached to doing so.

7. LOCAL AUTHORITIES

- 7.1 In all situations of Domestic Abuse, local authorities and other agencies or services will, wherever possible, work to support and assist adults at risk to take action necessary to protect themselves from abuse especially where this may result in significant harm to themselves or other adults with care and support needs and children.
- 7.2 In accordance with the Multi-agency Safeguarding Adults Policy and Protocols and Guidance for Kent & Medway, it is a responsibility of the Designated Senior Officer (DSO) in the local authorities to make a decision about what course of action will be taken. This would be in accordance with the Kent and Medway Multi-agency Adult Protection Protocols and Guidance following risk assessment of the seriousness of the abuse (guidance section 19). This will inform the level of response and approach from the framework (guidance section 25). The following are possible responses that may be made at any stage during the information gathering or enquiries made from initial consultation / formal referral to case conference:
 - a) It is abuse, the alleged victim is an adult at risk and a section 42 enquiry is commenced using the multi-agency policy protocols and guidance.
 - **b)** It is abuse but the adult at risk following safe enquiries requests case is closed and DASH does not indicate referral to MARAC.
 - c) There is evidence of abuse that does not constitute a criminal offence but following assessment of the issues reported it appears more appropriate to address the situation in a less formal way e.g. through the provision of support services for the adult at risk and their carer (who may also be the adult at risk).

- **d)** It is not assessed as adult abuse but an assessment of social care/support is initiated
- **e)** It is abuse but the victim does not have Care **and** Support needs so a non-statutory enquiry may be appropriate.
- f) If the victim does not have either care or support needs it may be necessary to suggest a referral to a more appropriate service e.g. locally commissioned domestic abuse services
- g) Initial assessment and evaluation of the presenting risks and protective factors concludes that there is no evidence of abuse or abuse is discounted following enquiries made.
- 7.3 The social services agency must make or cause to be made whatever enquiries necessary to decide what needs to happen and by whom. This then constitutes a formal Section 42 Enquiry; to assist in reaching this decision it is **crucial** that such enquiries are made when the person is **safe to disclose** and in a situation which will not increase risk to them.

The following enquiries will be undertaken: -

- **a)** The views and wishes of the adult once safe contact and enquiry has been made.
- b) Explain the limits of your confidentiality e.g. the only time I would tell anyone anything you told me would be if a child was in danger, if another adult was in serious danger or if a crime may have been committed. Even then, I would discuss it with you first if I could and I would do everything I could to support you.
- c) An Independent advocate may be appointed to support them if they have difficulty understanding the processes.
- d) Information gathering from other organisations.*If the adult does not want other agencies involved but there has been disclosure of a crime there should be consultation with the Police regarding the scenario (without passing personal details) to discuss and consider how to ensure that the person is and remains protected from abuse or neglect.
- **e)** Consider any records of previous or current involvement with the adult at risk and any other family members by statutory agencies.
- f) Domestic Abuse, Stalking and Honour Based Violence Risk Identification Checklist (DASH) should be completed with the adult unless it is not possible to do so.
- **g)** Referral to Multi-agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) if indicated by DASH.
- **h)** The adult should be informed of the role of an Independent Domestic Violence Advocate IDVA for their consideration.
- i) The adult should be advised of their nearest One Stop Shop

- j) Planning discussions by telephone or meetings involving the adult at risk and/or referrer.
- **k)** All planning discussions and decisions must be appropriately documented.

Further guidance regarding enquiry is available within the Kent and Medway Multi-agency Adult Protection Protocols and Guidance 2018 and on the http://www.domesticabuseservices.org.uk/

This is the guidance from the <u>LGA/ADASS Adult Safeguarding and Domestic Abuse</u>, a guide for practitioners and managers

7.4 Should there be any disagreement between professionals regarding the decision the matter should be referred to the appropriate Assistant Director for Kent County Council or to a Service Manager for Medway Council.

8. INTER-AGENCY CO-OPERATION

- 8.1 Inter-agency Domestic Abuse Fora have been established in the following Areas: North Kent, West Kent, Maidstone, Medway, Swale, Canterbury, Thanet, South East Kent and Ashford.
- **8.2** No one agency can meet the needs of those who experience Domestic Abuse. The primary objective of the Area Domestic Abuse Fora is to focus inter-agency efforts to raise awareness, improve services and support for victims, and their families, experiencing Domestic Abuse.
- **8.3** Area Domestic Abuse Fora will not discuss individual cases. Where a concern for an adult at risk is identified, the above protocol should be adopted and referral made as appropriate.

DOMESTIC ABUSE AND SEXUAL VIOLENCE EXECUTIVE GROUP (DASVEG)

- 9.1 The function of the DASVEG is to reduce domestic abuse and sexual violence and change attitudes increase knowledge and understanding of impact of domestic and sexual abuse across communities and agencies highlighting the fact that it is everyone's responsibility whilst emphasising the effectiveness of early identification and intervention.
- 9.2 The DASVEG should act as an effective co-ordinating body, with a strong voice reflecting local Domestic and Sexual Abuse Forums, Community Safety Partnership, SARC priorities and the interests from the Criminal Justice Board, Locality Boards and the Adults at Risk Board
- **9.3** The Executive Group will maintain links with the Police and Crime Commissioner and Police and Crime Panel, to ensure domestic abuse continues to remain a priority issue.

9.4 The main responsibilities of the Executive Group are to:

- address domestic and sexual abuse issues through joint collaborative working of county wide agencies.
- continue to improve joint working between agencies, including information sharing, to enable a co-ordinated approach to addressing domestic and sexual abuse.
- receive progress reports in respect of prevalence, performance and activity against appropriate national, county & local target sets.
- provide guidance on major cross agency projects and management information support systems.
- aim to secure and sustain funding for domestic and sexual abuse services.
- ensure management information is up to date to inform implementation of the Strategy.
- ensure effective communication between the DASVEG and the Domestic Abuse Tactical Group and the Sexual Violence and SARC Tactical Group.

10. DASH Risk Assessment

- 10.1 All staff having direct contact with adults at risk should be trained to complete the Risk Indicator toolkit (DASH) where it is identified that an adult at risk is in a domestic abuse situation.
- **10.2** The DASH tool is for all professionals working with victims of domestic abuse, stalking, and harassment and honour based violence.
- **10.3** The DASH risk assessment tool can be found here: <u>Safe Lives DASH Risk</u> <u>Assessment Checklist</u>
- **10.4** The recognised risk categories that are utilized by Kent Police are standard, medium and high:

Standard	Current evidence and risk indicators do not indicate the likelihood of causing serious harm i.e. there is no escalation in seriousness of frequency.
Medium	There are identifiable indicators of risk of serious harm. The offender has the potential to cause serious harm but is unlikely to do so unless there is a change in circumstances, for example failure to take medication, loss of

	accommodation, relationship breakdown and drug or alcohol misuse.
High	There are identifiable indicators of risk of serious harm. The potential event could happen at any time and the impact would be serious. Risk of serious harm is a risk that is life threatening and/or traumatic and from which recovery, whether physical or psychological, can be expected to be difficult or impossible.
	In addition, a significant escalation in severity or frequency of incidents should be considered as high risk. The professional judgement of the reviewing Police officer may also identify high risk cases.

- All victims whether assessed as High, Medium or Standard must receive safety planning advice and safeguarding. This should be tailored to be bespoke individual needs of the victim. Where the case is High Risk the Officer in Charge in the Domestic Abuse Vulnerability Investigation Team (DA VIT) will conduct enhanced safety planning which will include MARAC referral.
- 10.6 The Domestic Abuse Vulnerability Investigation Team are responsible for the investigation and safeguarding in all intimate partner and high risk Domestic Abuse cases. They will also provide support and guidance to support colleagues in other teams dealing with DA crimes and incidents.
- They will be deployed to intimate and high risk victims of domestic abuse as directed by the DA VIT Supervisor. Victims will be contacted and seen face to face. The DA Investigator should seek to obtain further information to assist in risk management if the DASH Risk Identification and Assessment checklist has not been completed with sufficient detail and context.
- **10.8** Staff should have training, to a level depending on their role and responsibilities, in completing the DASH risk assessment tools and to understand the criteria for a referral to MARAC.
- **10.9** Adult social services must nominate MARAC representatives by area. All staff in their area should know who the MARAC representatives are.

11. Stalking and harassment in domestic abuse incidents

11.1. Stalking is a pattern of repeated, unwanted behaviour that causes victims to feel distressed or scared. It can be perpetrated by men or women. It is a recurring theme in many domestic homicides and it is a high risk indicator.

- **11.2.** Stalking often has a huge emotional impact on those it affects. It can lead to feelings of depression, anxiety and even post-traumatic stress disorder. It is a psychological as well as physical crime.
- **11.3.** Stalking can be direct; by confrontation or by following the victim. It can also be conducted via phone, mail or on-line. It may be indirect; facilitated via third parties including family, associates and work contacts.
- **11.4.** Domestic abuse investigations may include harassment-type offences and vice versa. Harassment can be a direct part of the domestic abuse or can occur due to the actions of people associated with the abuser.
- **11.5.** Where stalking is apparent, it is vital that this is identified and appropriately dealt with. An enhanced safeguarding response allied to a prompt, robust and effective intervention with the perpetrator must take place.
- **11.6.** The Police may consider imposing of stringent bail conditions where bail is granted. Police Investigators should ensure that the granting of a restraining order following conviction or acquittal at court is pursued by CPS prosecutors.
- 11.7. Victims of stalking and harassment in a domestic incident should be asked the additional 11 questions from the <u>S-DASH</u> for Stalking and Harassment cases (2009). This is to ensure an accurate risk assessment can be conducted and a full understanding of the victims circumstances be obtained in order to safeguard and intervene appropriately.
- 11.8. Advice for those who have engaged in stalking behaviour can be obtained by contacting the National Stalking Clinic on 020 8702 6104 or emailing NationalStalkingClinic@nhs.net. More information on these services and who can make referrals can be found: http://www.beh-mht.nhs.uk/mental-health-service/mh-services/national-stalking-clinic.htm
- **11.9.** Advice and support for people who are victims of stalking can be found online at http://www.stalkinghelpline.org/ or on the National Stalking Helpline 0808 802 0300.
- 12. Domestic Abuse Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC)
- **12.1** MARAC is a multi-agency response to ensure that the highest risk victims of domestic abuse are protected within a multiagency arena. There are MARACs covering the whole of Kent and Medway.
- 12.2 In a single meeting, MARAC combines up-to-date risk information with comprehensive assessment of a victim's needs and links those directly to the provision of appropriate services for all those involved in a case: victim, children and perpetrator.

• For more information, CAADA have produced an <u>explanatory video</u> that explains why MARACs were set up, how they help high-risk victims of domestic abuse and what types of professionals are expected to attend.

12.3 The aims of the MARAC are:

- **a)** To share information to increase the safety, health and wellbeing of victims, adults and their children;
- **b)** To determine whether the perpetrator poses a significant risk to any particular adult at risk and/or to the general community; also professional staff involved with domestic abuse
- c) To jointly construct and implement a risk management plan that provides professional support to all those at risk and that reduces the risk of harm
- **d)** To reduce repeat victimisation;
- e) To improve agency accountability
- f) Improve support and safety for staff involved in high risk DA cases
- 12.4 The responsibility to take appropriate actions rests with individual agencies; it is not transferred to the MARAC.
- **12.5** The role of MARAC is to facilitate, monitor and evaluate effectively information sharing to enable appropriate actions to be taken to increase public safety.

13. Training

13.1 The Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board supports the recommendation of the Kent & Medway Domestic Abuse Strategy Group's Domestic Abuse Training Framework launched in 2012. It is recommended that all staff and their managers, who have direct contact with adults at risk, should receive training on Domestic abuse, MARAC and DASH.

Appendix 1 - Contact and referral details

If police attention/presence or medical attention is required

urgently please call: 999

Police enquiries call: 101

To report Adult Protection concerns to Kent or Medway Social Services:

Medway Council Telephone: 01634 334466 (during work hours)

Fax: 01634 334504 (during work hours)

e-mails : ss.accessandinfo@medway.gov.uk.cjsm.net (secure

email)

Kent County Council Telephone: 03000 416161 (during work hours)

Secure e-mail: AdultsSafeguardingCRU@kent.gov.uk

Kent & Medway Local Authority Out Of Hours Telephone: 03000 41 91 91

For more details on when and how to make a referral please see Guidance sections 5, 6 and 7 in the main Kent and Medway Multiagency Safeguarding Adults Protection Policy, Protocols and Guidance for Kent & Medway (2016).

For information regarding domestic abuse services for victims, perpetrators and information for professionals across Kent and Medway refer to: www.domesticabuseservices.org.uk